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MEMORANDUM FI NDI NGS OF FACT AND CPI NI ON

PARR, Judge: Respondent determ ned deficiencies in,

additions to, and a penalty on petitioner's Federal incone taxes

as foll ows:



Docket No. 9376-88
Additions to Tax
Year Defi ci ency Sec. 6653(b) Sec. 6653(b)(2) Sec. 6654 Sec. 6661
1978 $1, 161, 317 $580, 659 - - $37, 226 - -
1979 1, 246, 774 623, 387 - - 52,098 - -
1980 364, 056 182, 028 - - 23,197 - -
1981 464, 416 232, 208 - - 35, 585 - -
1982 621, 489 310, 745 50% of the 60, 604 $155, 372
i nt erest due
on $621, 489
1983 172, 038 86, 019 50% of the 10, 317 43, 010
i nterest due
on $172, 038
Docket No. 7127-92
Addi tions to Tax Penal ty
Year Defi ci ency Sec. 6653(b)! Sec. 6654 6661 Sec. 6663(a)
1985 $439, 711 $242, 631 - - $116, 760 - -
1986 132, 645 99, 484 - - 33,161 - -
1987 74, 789 56, 092 $4, 039 - - - -
1988 76, 808 57, 606 4,913 - - - -
1989 98, 870 - - 6, 685 - - $74, 153
For returns required to be filed after Sept. 3, 1982, and before Dec.
31, 1986, if the penalty under sec. 6653(b)(1) applies, the penalty under sec.

6653(b) (2) will
required to be filed after
the penalty under sec.
6653(b) (1) (B) will

Dec. 31,
6653(b) (1) (A) appli es,
al so apply in an anount to be determ ned.

al so apply in an amount to be determ ned.

1986,

before Dec.
the penalty under sec.

and on or

For

Docket No. 13113-96

Addition to Tax

Year Defi ci ency Sec. 6651(a) (1)
1992 $158, 621 $39, 655
Al'l section references are to the Internal
effect for the taxable years in issue, and al

are to the Tax Court Rules of Practice and Procedure,

ot herw se i ndi cat ed.

returns
31, 1988, if

Revenue Code in
Rul e references

unl ess
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The issues for decision are:! (1) Wether a 1980 pl ea
agreenent in Mbile, Al abama, between petitioner and the
Gover nment precl udes respondent fromdeterm ning deficiencies in
taxes owed by petitioner. W hold it does not. (2) Whether
respondent's use of petitioner's Cayman |slands records was
i nproper because it violated grand jury secrecy rules. W hold
it was not. (3) Whether respondent's use of petitioner's Caynman
| sl ands records was inproper because it violated a treaty between
the United Kingdom and the United States regardi ng Cayman | sl ands
information. W hold petitioner |acks standing to chall enge any
purported violation of the treaty. (4) Wuether respondent's use
of petitioner's Panamani an bank records was i nproper because it
vi ol ated Panamani an | aw or petitioner's Fourth Amendnent rights.
We hold it was not. (5) Wether petitioner had unreported incone
for the years at issue as determ ned by respondent. W hold he
did. (6) Wether petitioner is entitled to deductions for net
operating | osses for the years in issue. W hold he is not. (7)

Whet her petitioner is liable for additions to tax for fraud

These consolidated cases essentially relate to unreported
income fromnarcotics trafficking and unreported interest earned
on that incone. Docket No. 9376-88 relates to years when the
funds were | ocated in the Caynman |Isl ands, docket No. 7127-92
relates to years when the funds were | ocated in Panama, and
docket No. 13113-96 relates to years when the funds were in the
custody of the District Court for the Southern District of
Fl ori da before being transferred to the Internal Revenue Service
(IRS).



pursuant to section 6653(b) for the years 1978 through 1983 and
1985 through 1988, and the fraud penalty pursuant to section 6663
for 1989.2 W hold he is. (8) Wether petitioner is liable for
additions to tax for underpaynment of individual estimted tax
pursuant to section 6654 for the years 1978 through 1983 and 1987
t hrough 1989. W hold we |lack jurisdiction for the years 1978
t hrough 1983; however, he is for the years 1987 through 1989.
(9) Whether petitioner is liable for additions to tax for
substantial understatenment pursuant to section 6661 for the years
1982, 1983, 1985, and 1986. W hold he is. (10) Wether
petitioner is liable for an addition to tax for failure to file a
tinmely return pursuant to section 6651(a)(1) for 1992. W hold
he is.

Sone of the facts have been stipulated and are so found.
The stipulated facts and the acconpanyi ng exhibits are
incorporated herein by this reference. Petitioner resided in
Florida at the time he filed the petitions in these consolidated

cases.

2Petitioner did not file a return for 1989. Accordingly,
the fraud penalty should be under sec. 6651(f) for fraudul ent
failure to file, not under sec. 6663. The |latter section applies
only where a return is filed. See sec. 6664(b). This is an
error in formonly and does not have a substantive effect on
these cases. Cf. Pietz v. Conmi ssioner, 59 T.C 207, 213-214
(1972).




FI NDI NGS OF FACT

Petitioner's Background

Petitioner has an extensive background in all aspects of
aviation. Petitioner has worked | oadi ng airplanes. He also has
a degree in aeronautic engineering and has served in the US. Air
Force. In addition, petitioner has all obtainable pilot's
licenses and aircraft nechanic's |icenses, including conmercial
pil ot.

Since the late 1960's, petitioner has been engaged in the
buying, selling, trading, and | easing of aircraft. Between 1969
and 1976, petitioner engaged in these aircraft activities
primarily outside the United States. In addition to conducting
these activities, petitioner was also flying as a commerci al
pilot. During this time, petitioner lived in various countries.

In approximately 1976, petitioner returned to the United
States to live and purchased a house at 19824 Bob O Link Drive in
Hi al eah, Florida. Petitioner had a large floor safe installed in
hi s house, into which he placed the cash that he had accunul at ed
fromhis previous business dealings, along wth the noney that he
was generating fromhis current business dealings.

Also in approximately 1976, in addition to his legitimte
aircraft business transactions, petitioner began |easing aircraft
to "bandits". Bandits are persons engaged in the snuggling of

marijuana. Petitioner placed the noney he earned fromthese
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activities into his floor safe along with his other funds,
essentially all of which he converted into cash.

In 1978, petitioner pled guilty to conspiracy to possess 100
pounds of marijuana, relating to a transaction in which he | eased
an airplane to persons snuggling marijuana.

Petitioner did not file Federal incone tax returns for years
prior to 1977.

Cayman | sl ands Bank Account

By Decenber 1977, petitioner had accunul ated approxi mately
$2.5 mllion in cash, which was stored in the floor safe in his
house. At this tine, petitioner decided to relocate his cash
fromthe floor safe in his house to a bank account in the Cayman
| sl ands.

On February 27, 1978, petitioner opened a personal bank
account at the Bank of Nova Scotia in the Cayman |slands, naking
an initial cash deposit of $247,500. The Bank of Nova Scotia
charged petitioner 1 percent of the deposit because it was cash.
From February 27 until July 4, 1978, petitioner deposited a total
of approximately $2 mllion in cash fromhis floor safe into his
Cayman | sl ands account. Thus, petitioner retained approxi mately
$500, 000 in cash in the floor safe to use for business and

per sonal expenses.



Approxi mately one-half of this noney that was deposited in
the Cayman | sl ands account was fromactivities related to | easing
aircraft to persons engaged in the snuggling of marijuana.

The funds petitioner deposited into the Bank of Nova Scotia
were used to purchase interest-bearing certificates of deposit.
During 1978, 1979, 1980, 1981, 1982, and 1983, these certificates
of deposit earned interest in the amounts of $90, 891, $294, 835,
$403, 607, $588, 847, $401, 337, and $160, 502, respectively.

Petitioner intentionally omtted the interest earned on his
nmoney on deposit in the Cayman |slands account fromhis 1978
t hrough 1983 Federal inconme tax returns.

Cayman | sl ands Cor por ati ons

Cayman Avi ation Finance was a Cayman | sl ands corporation
that petitioner used to buy and trade airplanes. Caynman Aviation
Fi nance owned a Mercedes Benz that petitioner drove and a
condomniumin North Carolina. Petitioner also had $486,000 in
an account at the Bank of Nova Scotia titled in the nane of
Cayman Avi ation Finance which he considered his noney.

Konmpas Corp. was anot her Cayman |slands corporation used by
petitioner. Konpas Corp. owned a house |ocated at 3060 N.E. 40th
Street in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. Petitioner acquired this
house in 1981 or 1982. Petitioner purchased the stock of Konpas

Corp. and left the title to the house in the corporation' s nane.
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Real Estate, Boats, and Airpl anes

Petitioner owned various parcels of real estate and several
boat s and ai rpl anes.

In July 1978, petitioner purchased a DC-6 airplane, No.
45501, for $250,000. He also expended $50,000 for repairs to
this airplane in 1978.

In 1981, petitioner purchased a Douglas DC7C airpl ane, No.
74303, for $112,000. Also, on January 16, 1981, petitioner
purchased a Pi per Aztec airplane for $18, 720.

I n August 1982, petitioner purchased a 1982 Lear airpl ane,
No. 97MJ, for $150,000. On Decenber 30, 1982, petitioner also
made a cash downpaynent of $5,000 on the purchase of a Lear 24
ai rplane, No. N1OOVQ In addition, petitioner purchased a Cessna
305, L-19 airplane, No. N5229G for $31,800 in 1982.

In 1980, petitioner purchased a 28-foot cigarette boat for
$4,106. Also in 1980, petitioner expended $26,000 for repairs to
a 35-foot cigarette boat, which was sold for $48, 000.

On Cctober 31, 1978, petitioner purchased certain real
property located in Mriah, North Carolina, for $47, 000.

In 1979, petitioner purchased a house at 1357 Sem nole Drive
in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, for $468,000. This house was titled
in the nanme Intercontinental Aircraft Leasing. Petitioner noved

into the house at 1357 Seminole Drive in late 1980 after his



house at 19824 Bob O Link Drive was machi ne gunned by drug
deal ers.

The only other asset Intercontinental Aircraft Leasing owned
was anot her house | ocated at 1261 Sem nole Drive, Fort
Lauderdal e, Florida, which was purchased in 1982. On February
15, 1982, petitioner paid $53,170.41, the bal ance due on the
purchase of the house |ocated at 1261 Sem nole Drive.

Petitioner's Arrest in Mbile, Al abama

On June 13, 1980, petitioner was arrested by Federal
authorities in Mbile, Al abama, and charged with possession of or
conspiracy to possess a controlled substance. The arrest stemed
froma transacti on where petitioner was delivering 105, 000
met haqual one tabl ets, or quaaludes, to Mbile in exchange for
approxi mately $175, 000 in cash.

On June 17, 1980, petitioner hired Thomas Haas (Haas), an
attorney in Mbile, to represent him Haas concluded that there
was no defense, either directly or indirectly, to the charge and
that he had no way of winning the case on trial.

At that time WIIiam Ki nbrough (Ki nbrough) was the U S.
attorney for the Southern District of Al abama. The chief
assistant U S. attorney was WIIiam Rudol ph Farve (Farve).

Haas pl ea bargained wwth Farve. The U S. attorney in Mbile
entered into a plea agreenent with petitioner, which was not

reduced to witing, whereby petitioner agreed to provide the



- 10 -

Governnment with evidence, testinony, and cooperation in

connection wth an investigation in the Southern D strict of

Florida. See United States v. Harvey, 869 F.2d 1439 (11th GCr
1989) (en banc). Mchael Patrick Sullivan (Sullivan), an
assistant U S. attorney for the Southern District of Florida,
participated in creating the agreenent. |In exchange for his
cooperation, petitioner would have the charges against himin
Mobil e dism ssed. Wien the U S. attorney in Mbile received
information that petitioner had satisfied his obligations under
the plea agreenment, Kinbrough filed a notion to dismss the case
that was then pending against petitioner in the Southern District
of Al abama. The charges against petitioner in Mbile were
ultimately dism ssed on March 16, 1981.

Petitioner's Crimnal Tax Investigation in Florida

In 1983, the CGrimnal Investigation Division (CID) of the
| RS was investigating petitioner. The CIDinvestigation of
petitioner resulted in a Federal grand jury investigation of
petitioner in the Southern District of Florida.

As part of the grand jury investigation, CID Special Agent
Stanley R Young Il (Young) was designated agent of the grand
jury for purposes of receiving, analyzing, and maintaining
docunents sought by the grand jury as part of its investigation.
In June 1983, grand jury subpoenas were served on petitioner by

Young seeking petitioner's personal records and his corporate
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records, including those fromthe Cayman |slands. Petitioner did
not produce any of the records.

In addition, a grand jury subpoena was served on the Bank of
Nova Scotia for the records relating to petitioner's bank account
in the Cayman |Islands. Petitioner's Cayman |slands bank records
were not produced pursuant to this subpoena.

On July 28, 1983, petitioner renoved all his funds at the
Bank of Nova Scotia in the Cayman |Islands. Petitioner wthdrew
$3, 125,000 from his personal accounts and $486, 000 fromthe
account of Cayman Avi ation Finance, which petitioner considered
hi s noney.

The funds petitioner withdrew fromthe Bank of Nova Scotia
were eventual ly deposited into petitioner's accounts at the Bank
of Credit and Commerce International (BCCl) in Panama City,
Panama. Petitioner's accounts at BCCl were interest-bearing
accounts. During 1985, 1986, 1987, 1988, and 1989, petitioner
earned interest on his funds deposited at BCCl in the anpbunts of
$271, 383, $265, 288, $214,074, $277,315, and $354, 072,
respectively. Petitioner intentionally omtted the interest
earned on his noney on deposit in Panama at BCClI from his 1985
t hrough 1988 Federal income tax returns. Petitioner did not
report any of the interest he earned on the funds deposited at

BCCl during any taxable year.
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The Governnent did eventually obtain petitioner's Cayman
| sl ands records, but not through grand jury subpoenas. The
records were obtained fromthe Cayman |slands Governnment pursuant
to the Agreenent Concerning Obtaining Evidence From Cayman
| sl ands Wth Regard to Narcotics Activities, Aug. 29, 1984, U.S.-
UK, 24 1.L.M 1110 (as extended). The records were received by
St ephen Snyder (Snyder), an attorney in the Tax Division of the
Departnent of Justice. Snyder's office was |ocated in
Washi ngton, D.C.; however, sonme of the responsibilities of his
position entailed investigations in the Southern District of
Fl ori da.

| medi ately after Snyder received the records, he called
Young and had himfly to Washington, D.C., to pick them up.
Young, as agent of the grand jury, accepted the records on behalf
of the grand jury in the Southern District of Florida. Young
brought the records back to Florida with himand kept themin a
| ocked security cabinet in his office in Fort Lauderdale.
Thereafter, Young physically presented the records to the grand
jury with a discussion and anal ysi s.

Using in part the Cayman |slands records, the grand jury in
the Southern District of Florida indicted petitioner in 1985 for
crimnal tax violations for the years 1978 through 1982.

Petitioner filed a notion to disnmiss the indictnent as a
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viol ation of the pl eal/cooperation agreenent which was agreed to
in Mbile, Al abana.

During the litigation of petitioner's crimnal tax charges
in Florida, the District Court for the Southern D strict of
Florida held that petitioner was given both use and transacti onal
immunity in his 1980 informal, unwitten, agreenent with the
Governnment, and the indictnment charging crimnal tax violations

was dismssed. See United States v. Harvey, 651 F. Supp. 894

(S.D. Fla. 1986). A divided panel of the Court of Appeals for

the Eleventh Circuit affirnmed. See United States v. Harvey, 848

F.2d 1547 (11th Gr. 1988). Subsequently, the Court of Appeals
deci ded to rehear the case en banc and vacated the panel opinion.

See United States v. Harvey, 855 F.2d 1492 (11th Cr. 1988). The

Court of Appeals then held that even though petitioner was given
use and transactional immunity in Septenber 1980, the inmunity
grant did not prohibit prosecution for crimnal tax violations
allegedly commtted in the years following the grant of immunity.

See United States v. Harvey, 869 F.2d 1439 (11th GCr. 1989) (en

banc). Petitioner was convicted of violating section 7201 for
his 1981 taxabl e year.

Petitioner's Arrest in St. Louis, M ssour

On Decenber 18, 1986, petitioner was arrested at an airport
in St. Louis, Mssouri, by the CID of the IRS. The arrest was

pursuant to a Decenber 8, 1986, indictnent by a Federal grand
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jury in St. Louis, related to aircraft transactions with drug
smugglers. Petitioner's arrest in St. Louis was unrelated to the
grand jury and crimnal tax prosecution in the Southern District
of Fl orida.

Foll owi ng reversal of his initial conviction and remand, 845
F.2d 760 (8th Cr. 1988), petitioner was convicted in the Eastern
District of Mssouri of conspiracy to inpede the IRS in
collection of inconme taxes in violation of 18 U.S.C. sec. 371

See United States v. Harvey, 900 F.2d 1253 (8th G r. 1990).

At the time of his arrest, petitioner had $29, 800 of U. S.
currency in his possession, along with three cashier's checks
totaling $250,000. The checks were payable to Jerry L. Harvey,
and the purchaser of the checks was Bill Wal ker & Associ ates.

Shortly after petitioner's arrest in St. Louis, |IRS Revenue
Agent Ken Kibort (Kibort) was assigned to investigate
petitioner's potential civil tax liabilities. Kibort received
the assignnment fromhis group manager and was handed a newspaper
article about petitioner's arrest. Kibort's assignnment was to
investigate a potential term nation assessnent agai nst
petitioner. Fromthe currency and checks in petitioner's
possession at the tinme of his arrest, it appeared to Kibort that
petitioner had sold an airplane to Bill \Wal ker & Associ at es.

A bond detention hearing in connection with petitioner's St.

Louis arrest was held on Decenber 23, 1986. The bond detention
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hearing was open to the general public. Kibort attended
petitioner's bond detention hearing and obtained a copy of a
proffer that was submtted in evidence at the hearing. The
proffer was submtted by the Governnment in support of a notion
for detention and expl ai ned why petitioner was perceived as a
flight risk. Kibort relied on the information obtained at the
bond detention hearing and contained in the proffer as background
information for petitioner's term nation assessnent.

The proffer disclosed that petitioner had been indicted in
Fort Lauderdal e for incone tax evasion pursuant to section 7201
for the years 1978 through 1982 and for filing a false return for
1980 pursuant to section 7206(1). The indictnment for the latter
of fense was based on his having indicated on the 1980 return that
he did not have an interest in or authority over a foreign bank
account during the tax year. The proffer also indicated that
part of the underreported inconme for the years of the indictnent
was $1.8 million of interest incone from Cayman |slands accounts.
In addition, the proffer indicated that during the pendency of
his crimnal tax case in Florida, petitioner renoved $485, 000
fromhis Caynman Avi ation Finance account and $3, 125,000 from si x
certificates of deposit at the Bank of Nova Scotia in the Cayman
| sl ands.

The proffer also chronicled petitioner's past experiences

with | aw enforcenent officials. In addition, the proffer
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i ndi cated that petitioner was an adept pilot, had experience with
international travel, possessed high-quality counterfeit
identification, and held property in corporate nanes.

Ki bort found this informati on he obtained at the bond
hearing very significant in making a term nation assessnent.
Kibort's inquiry into petitioner's civil tax liability did not
end, however, with the information obtained fromthe proffer at
t he bond hearing. Kibort contacted Bill \Wal ker & Associ at es,
whi ch was a brokerage firmon St. Sinons Island, Ceorgia. Kibort
| earned that Bill Wal ker & Associ ates paid petitioner the three
checks in his possession at the tinme of his arrest, in addition
to two other checks and sone currency.

Ki bort al so contacted an individual named Rafael Ellis
(El'lis) in lahoma Cty, Oklahoma. Ellis represented a
Brazilian corporation that purchased the aircraft at issue.
Ellis told Kibort that petitioner wanted the purchase price in
currency. Ellis did not want to pay the purchase price in
currency, so petitioner gave himthe option of wire transferring
the purchase price to petitioner's bank account, No. M-49, at
BCCl in Panama. Petitioner also told Ellis that his banker was
an individual naned Syed Aftab Hussain (Hussain).

Since Kibort now knew the sale price of the aircraft from
t he checks and currency, his next goal was to determ ne

petitioner's basis in the aircraft. Kibort discovered the
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aircraft at issue had been purchased in Gkl ahoma along with two
other aircraft. The purchase records indicated that there was a
wire transfer of $750,000 from BCCl in Panama, in addition to
$300,000 in currency. At the tine of the term nation assessnent,
however, Kibort did not know about the $750,000 wire transfer
from Panama. Kibort knew only that three aircraft had been
purchased, and he allocated a purchase price to the aircraft at

i ssue for purposes of the term nation assessnent. Based on the
sale price and basis, there was a profit on the aircraft at

i ssue.

On Decenber 31, 1986, the IRS nmade three term nation
assessnents: One against Intercontinental Jet, Inc.
(I'ntercontinental Jet), another against petitioner personally,
and a third against petitioner as a transferee of
I ntercontinental Jet.

Petitioner challenged the term nati on assessnents, and
Ki bort continued to work on the case. Petitioner went through
the adm nistrative | evel of appeals of the term nation
assessnents and then petitioned the District Court for the
Southern District of Florida regarding the assessnents. An open
hearing regarding the term nati on assessnents was held in Wst
Pal m Beach, Florida, before the sanme judge that had heard

petitioner's crimnal tax prosecution.
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In order to prepare for the hearing in Florida, Kibort
continued to follow up on several |eads. At petitioner's bond
hearing, Kibort |learned from Young's testinony that petitioner
had transferred noney to Panama. Kibort also |earned that a
$65, 000 check payable to petitioner fromEl|lis was negotiated at
BCCl in Panama. Furthernore, Kibort |earned that when petitioner
was arrested in St. Louis, he had in his possession a business
card of his banker, Hussain, who was an enpl oyee of BCCl, and an
address book that showed the account No. M-49 on one of the
pages. Kibort also discovered, through FAA records, that
petitioner had sold another aircraft in 1985 for $700, 000, and
$670, 000 of that was wired to BCCl in Panama to account No. M-
49.

Al this information Kibort was gathering was solely in
preparation for the hearing regarding the term nation
assessnments. Kibort was not working on anything related to
petitioner's crimnal tax prosecution. The District Court upheld
the term nation assessnments in Cctober 1987.

After the decision on the term nation assessnents was
received, Kibort considered initiating a jeopardy assessnent that
woul d cover the taxable years for which petitioner was under
crimnal tax investigation. |In order to do the jeopardy
assessnent, Kibort needed the approval of several high officials

in the I'RS, including soneone representing the Collection
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Division. The Collection Division would want assurance that the
assessnment would result in a high probability of collection.

Ki bort went to the IRS District Counsel in St. Louis and
di scussed with himwhether the IRS could reach petitioner's noney
i n Panama through a donestic branch of BCCI. The St. Louis
District Counsel referred Kibort to Jim Springer (Springer) at
t he Departnent of Justice. Springer had just finished a simlar
case, where overseas funds were sought from an international bank
t hrough a donestic branch. Springer advised Kibort that he would
send himinformation regarding that action.

Springer was also famliar with petitioner. Wile
petitioner's crimnal tax prosecution in Florida was pendi ng,
petitioner filed a notion opposing adm ssion in evidence of
foreign records, specifically records regarding petitioner
obtained fromthe Governnent of the Cayman Islands. The
Gover nment opposed petitioner's notion. Attached to the
Governnment brief in opposition was a list of 46 paid bank drafts
frompetitioner's bank accounts at the Bank of Nova Scotia in the
Cayman |Islands. The final bank draft was paid on July 28, 1983,
to the Canadi an I nperial Bank of Conmerce in the anount of
$3, 125,000. Also attached to the brief was a July 25, 1983,
letter to the manager of the Bank of Nova Scotia, signed by

petitioner, that stated:
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Pl ease forward to Bruce Canmpbell & Co. a draft in
favour of Canadi an | nperial Bank of Commerce for the

sum of US$3, 125, 000. 00, the bal ance on the account

shoul d be handed to the bearer of this letter in cash.

These suns represent the six Certificates of Deposit

hel d at your branch and whi ch mature today.

Bruce Campbell & Co. was the law firm petitioner used in the
Cayman Islands. In addition, attached to the brief was a copy of
the referenced check payable to the Canadi an | nperial Bank of
Commerce. Springer had a copy of this brief and sent it to
Ki bort in Cctober 1987.

To make the jeopardy assessnent, Kibort al so needed to
obtain the perm ssion of the CID. Kibort needed perm ssion from
the CID to ensure that he was not taking any action that would
harm the pending crimnal case. Kibort flewto Florida to neet
wi th Young, Revenue Agent Charlie Parenteau (Parenteau), and
others. The neeting entailed solely a presentation by Kibort as
to what he proposed to do as a conputation to determne a
liability. Young, Parenteau, and the others present at the
nmeeting did not provide Kibort with any information. The CID
approved the jeopardy assessnment. On Decenber 10, 1987, the
assessnment was made and | evies were served agai nst BCCl branches
in Mam and New York.

Ki bort conputed the tax for the jeopardy assessnment using,

in part, the expenditures nmethod based on the list of the 46 paid

bank drafts attached to the brief he received from Springer.
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Ki bort also relied on Young's testinony at the bond hearing in
St. Louis and the proffer. |In addition, Kibort relied on a brief
filed in the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Crcuit which
dealt with the dism ssal of petitioner's crimnal tax indictment.
All the information Kibort used to nmake the jeopardy assessnent
was public record.

The jeopardy assessnent, |like the term nation assessnent,
was litigated. It proceeded through an adm nistrative |evel of
appeal s and was then petitioned to the District Court for the
Southern District of Florida. The District Court held that the

j eopardy assessnent was reasonable. See Harvey v. United States,

730 F. Supp. 1097 (S.D. Fla. 1990).

Ki bort was also involved in issuing the notice of deficiency
for the years 1978 through 1983. The principal difference of
this calculation fromthe calculation for the jeopardy assessnent
was that certain expenditures were added to unreported incone
that were either unexplained or cash. None of the information
Ki bort used canme from Young, Snyder, or Parenteau unless it was
public record.

BCCl Returns Petitioner's Funds to the United States

BCCl deposited $4, 602, 776. 17 of petitioner's noney into the
registry of the District Court for the Southern District of

Florida in April 1990. To find out whether this represented al
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of petitioner's funds in Panama, Kibort and others requested
petitioner's bank records from BCCl

Speci al Agent Panela L. MCul |l ough (MCull ough) of the U. S.
Custons Service had been participating in crimnal investigations
concerni ng Manuel Antonio Noriega (Noriega) of Panama, and
others, in narcotics trafficking and noney | aundering. These
investigations led to two indictnments agai nst Noriega, and
others, including BCCl, in the District Court for the Mddle
District of Florida in Tanpa. Follow ng the investigations, as
part of a plea agreenent, BCCl agreed to assist the Governnent in
obt ai ni ng banki ng records mai ntai ned i n Panana.

In approximately April 1990, MCul |l ough went to Panama and
present ed the Panamani an Governnent with an affidavit to obtain
the records of Noriega and others, including petitioner.
McCul | ough i ncluded the request for petitioner's records at the
request of an IRS CID agent. Petitioner's records were obtained
from BCCl and were used to nmake the determi nations in the notice
of deficiency issued to himfor the years 1985 through 1989.

The $4,602,776.17 returned by BCCl was deposited by the
Clerk of the Court for the Southern District of Florida into an
i nterest-bearing account at NationsBank. In June 1992, the IRS
recei ved, pursuant to an order of the District Court, a total of
$5, 132, 074.88 fromthe NationsBank account consisting of the

$4,602, 776.17 originally received from BCCl together with accrued
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interest in the anmount of $529,298.71. The $5, 132, 074. 88
received by the IRS during 1992 was applied to petitioner's
unpai d tax assessnents.

Petitioner was sent a form " Conbi ned 1099/ 1098 Tax
Statenent” by NationsBank. It was addressed "Jerry Lee Harvey,
5231 N.W 84th Avenue, Fort Lauderdal e, FL 33351-4903." This
formstates that petitioner earned interest in the anount of
$529, 298. 71 during 1992. Petitioner did not report this incomne.

OPI NI ON

| ssue 1. Petitioner's 1980 Pl ea Agreenent

Petitioner asserts that his 1980 plea agreenent in Mobile,
Al abama, bars the Governnent fromcollecting any taxes on the
Cayman | sl ands funds he had accunul ated before the agreenent.
Petitioner's argunment is that his 1980 agreenent gave him
prospective civil tax immunity fromthe interest earned on the
fruits of his drug-trafficking career. Petitioner has advanced
this argunment unsuccessfully in the past.

To sunmari ze, petitioner accunul ated substantial anounts of
nmoney as a drug trafficker. He deposited this noney in
cl andestine accounts in the Cayman |slands, where it earned a
consi derabl e anount of interest. Petitioner intentionally did
not report this interest incone on any Federal incone tax return.
VWhen petitioner was arrested in Mbile, Al abama, he entered into

a plea agreenent in which he cooperated with the Governnent.
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Pursuant to this agreenent, petitioner told Federal authorities
about his financial dealings, including the existence of funds in
t he Cayman | sl ands.

Petitioner's 1980 pl ea agreenent has al ready been the
subj ect of extensive litigation. |In finding the jeopardy
assessnents for 1978 through 1983 agai nst petitioner reasonabl e,
and the anount assessed appropriate under the circunstances, the
District Court for the Southern District of Florida held:

This Court does not accept * * * [petitioner's]
contentions that his 1980 grant of inmunity estops the
Government from maki ng j eopardy assessnents for civil
tax liabilities against the taxpayer. For ease of
anal ysis, the assessnments can be divi ded between pre-
immunity and post-imunity tax years. The Eleventh
Crcuit has determned that the 1980 grant of immnity
does not enconpass tax years subsequent to 1979 and
that * * * [petitioner] is not inmmune fromcrim nal
prosecution for tax evasion for post-inmunity tax
years. Harvey, 869 F.2d at 1449. 1In light of the fact
that the inmunity agreenent does not even extend to tax
years after 1979, there is no question that the grant
of immunity does not preclude the Service from naki ng
assessnments for the tax years 1980 through 1983. As
for 1978 and 1979, the trial judge in United States v.
Harvey, 651 F. Supp. 894 (S.D. Fla. 1986), rev'd 869
F.2d 1439 (11th Gr. 1989) originally held that there
was imunity fromcrimnal prosecution for tax evasion
for these years, but has subsequently determ ned that,
at least for purposes of a term nation assessnent, the
grant of immunity did not include civil matters.

Harvey v. United States, Case No. 87-6193 (S.D. Fla.
Septenber 24, 1987). Gven the limted effect of
judicial review of a jeopardy assessnent pursuant to
section 7429, this Court will adopt this well-reasoned
approach. For purposes of this jeopardy review, the
1980 grant of inmunity does not preclude the Governnent
from maki ng assessnents for civil tax liabilities for
the years 1978 and 1979. [Harvey v. United States, 730
F. Supp. at 1104-1105.]
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Petitioner relies on a footnote in the en banc opinion of
the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Crcuit for the proposition
that his 1980 pl ea agreenent bars respondent from pursuing any
taxes he failed to pay on his Cayman |slands funds before
Septenber 1980. In the en banc review of his crimnal tax
indictnment in Florida, the Court of Appeals stated:

the governnment at least inplicitly has cone to
recogni ze that the 1980 i mrunity agreenent bars any
prosecution for tax evasion allegedly conmtted before
Sept enber of 1980 (the date of the inmunity agreenent),
or any other |egal action, such as forfeiture, that

m ght arise fromviolations that allegedly took place
before the immnity agreenent. Harvey got a fresh
start in 1980, including his Cayman |slands noney.
[United States v. Harvey, 869 F.2d at 1443 n.6.]

Petitioner argues that this footnote fromthe opinion of the
Court of Appeals in his crimnal tax case prevents respondent
from pursuing any taxes he failed to pay on his Cayman | sl ands
funds before Septenber 1980, the date of the immunity agreenent.
Petitioner further argues that the full extent of his 1980
agreenent, especially as it relates to civil tax liabilities
after Septenber 1980, needs to be addressed in these proceedings.
Petitioner's 1980 agreenent does not enconpass tax years

after 1979. See United States v. Harvey, 869 F.2d at 1449;

Harvey v. United States, 730 F. Supp. at 1104. Accordingly,

respondent is not precluded from pursuing taxes for the years

after 1979 by petitioner's 1980 agreenent.
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Furt hernore, respondent is not precluded from pursuing taxes
for the years 1978 and 1979 by petitioner's 1980 agreenent. The
judge who originally dismssed petitioner's crimnal tax
indictment in the Southern District of Florida al so subsequently
held that for purposes of the term nati on assessnent,
petitioner's 1980 agreenent did not include imunity fromcivil

taxes. See Harvey v. United States, 730 F. Supp. at 1105. A

second judge for the Southern District of Florida also held that
petitioner's 1980 agreenent did not include civil tax immunity
for 1978 and 1979 for purposes of the jeopardy assessnents. See
id. Wen the District Court reviewed petitioner's jeopardy
assessnents, it had the benefit of weighing the en banc opinion
of the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Grcuit inits

determ nations. The District Court did not hold that the
footnote, on which petitioner now relies, prevented respondent
from pursuing taxes for 1978 and 1979.

In addition, the then U S. attorney for the Southern
District of Al abama, Kinbrough, testified at trial that he did
not have the authority to conprom se petitioner's civil liability
for Federal taxes and did not discuss any imunity from such
taxes with petitioner or his attorney, Haas. Kinbrough testified
that in making the imunity agreenent, petitioner's obligation to
pay taxes was not sonething that he considered. Sullivan, the

assistant U. S. attorney for the Southern District of Florida who
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participated in creating petitioner's 1980 agreenent, |ikew se
testified that he did not have the authority to conprom se or
grant inmmunity from Federal taxes. Accordingly, petitioner's
1980 agreenent does not prevent respondent from determ ning
deficiencies in petitioner's incone taxes for 1978 and 1979.

| ssue 2. Grand Jury Secrecy and Fed. R Cim P. 6(e)

Petitioner asserts that respondent inproperly used grand
jury information in violation of rule 6(e) of the Federal Rules
of Crimnal Procedure. Petitioner asserts that this information
formed the direct basis for the jeopardy assessnents and notice
of deficiency for the taxable years 1978 through 1983 and
indirectly led to the notices of deficiency involving the taxable
years 1985 t hrough 1989, and 1992.

During the crimnal tax proceedings in the Southern District
of Florida, petitioner's Cayman |slands records were obtai ned and
presented to the Federal grand jury. Petitioner asserts that
information regarding his Cayman |slands accounts was i nproperly
di scl osed and then used by respondent.

Cenerally, matters occurring before a Federal grand jury may
not be disclosed. See Fed. R Cim P. 6(e). Petitioner
contends that respondent's determ nations are based on
information that was inproperly obtained in violation of rule

6(e) of the Federal Rules of Crimnal Procedure.
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Petitioner has nade this argunent before. |In upholding the
j eopardy assessnents, the District Court for the Southern
District of Florida stated:

This Court finds no nerit in * * * [petitioner's]
contentions that the jeopardy assessnents shoul d be
barred because the Internal Revenue Service relied on
grand jury information purportedly disclosed in
violation of Rule 6(e) of the Federal Rules of Crim nal
Procedure. The Federal Rules of Crimnal Procedure
provi de for disclosure of grand jury information to a
Government attorney conducting crimnal matters.

Fed. RCrimP. (6)(e)(3)(A (i), 54(c). It is axiomatic
that this "grand jury information"” is properly reveal ed
during a crimnal proceeding.

Furthernore, Rule 6(e) does not restrict the use
of grand jury information which has been publicly
di sclosed in open court. * * * The "grand jury
information” relied upon in making the jeopardy
assessnent in this case was di sclosed in the bond
detention hearing, at the pre-Kastigar hearing and in
various other aspects of crimnal proceedings. There
is no evidence that these disclosures were inproper.
Furthernore, the majority of the information relied
upon in making the assessnents has been incorporated in
a published decision. * * * [Harvey v. United States,
730 F. Supp. at 1107-1108.]

We agree with the conclusions of the District Court for the
Southern District of Florida. Kibort's primary source of
information for the determ nations was the proffer and testinony
fromthe bond detention hearing in St. Louis, as well as a brief
filed in petitioner's crimnal case in Florida. Al of this
information was part of the public record. The fact that
petitioner failed to object to the disclosure of this information

at the bond detention hearing, or various other proceedi ngs
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before the District Courts, vitiates his bel ated objection now.

See Gavosto v. Conm ssioner, T.C. Menob. 1994-481. W hold that

there was no inproper disclosure or use of grand jury information
by respondent.?

| ssue 3. Cayman Islands Treaty Violation

Petitioner asserts that respondent inproperly used
informati on that was obtained fromthe Governnent of the Cayman
Islands in violation of an agreenment between the United States
and the United Kingdom

Evi dence concerning petitioner's bank accounts in the Cayman
| sl ands was obtai ned pursuant to the Agreenent Concerning
ot ai ni ng Evi dence From Cayman |slands Wth Regard to Narcotics
Activities, Aug. 29, 1984, U.S.-U K, 24 1.L.M 1110 (as
extended). Petitioner challenges the use of this evidence by
asserting a violation of the agreenent.

Petitioner's bank records in the Caynan | sl ands were
originally obtained for use in the crimnal tax case in Florida.

In order to obtain these records under the terns of the

WWe note that Fed. R Cim P. 6(e) orders were |ater
i ssued. Hugh G Isley, Jr. (lIsley), was originally petitioner's
attorney in these proceedings. Wen |Isley began representing
petitioner, he had no information or records for petitioner and
was attenpting to obtain any records he could. In July 1994, the
District Courts for the Southern District of Florida and the
Eastern District of Mssouri issued Fed. R Crim P. 6(e) orders
allow ng the grand jury material gathered against petitioner to
be used by both petitioner and respondent in these cases.
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agreenent, the Attorney Ceneral of the United States was required
to certify that the records were for use in the grand jury
proceedings in Florida involving petitioner. Furthernore, the
Attorney Ceneral had to certify that the records would not be
used or disclosed for any purposes other than the resolution of
matters enconpassed by the agreenment without the witten consent
of the Governnent of the Cayman I|slands through the Cayman
Attorney Ceneral.

Petitioner argues that neither the crimnal tax prosecution
in Mssouri nor the instant civil tax proceedings are matters
enconpassed by the agreenent; i.e., narcotics activities.
Therefore, petitioner argues, the witten consent of the
Governnment of the Cayman |slands was required for disclosure of
the records. Thus, petitioner asserts that since there was no
written authorization, it was inproper to use the records for any
pur pose other than the investigation conducted by the Federal
grand jury in Florida.

The District Court for the Southern District of Florida has
addressed this argunent as well. In upholding the jeopardy
assessnment, the District Court stated:

Nei t her are the jeopardy assessnments prohibited on the

grounds that they are based on docunents which * * *

[petitioner] asserts were obtained in violation of a

treaty with the Caynman Islands. United States citizens

do not have standing to chall enge purported violations

of this treaty because the agreenent did not create any
rights for United States citizens. United States v.
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Mann, 829 F.2d 849, 852-853 (9th Cr. 1987). * * *
[Petitioner], a United States citizen, has no standing
to chall enge any purported violation of the Cayman
Islands treaty. [Harvey v. United States, 730 F. Supp.
at 1106. ]

See also United States v. Mann, 829 F.2d 849, 852-853 (9th G r

1987); United States v. Trupin, No. 97 . 97 (S.D.N. Y. My 20,

1999) .

We agree with the conclusions of the District Court for the
Sout hern District of Florida. W hold that petitioner |acks
standing to chall enge any purported violation of the Cayman
| sl ands treaty.

| ssue 4. Panamani an Law and Fourth Amendnent Vi ol ations

Petitioner argues that his BCCl bank records were obtai ned
in violation of Panamanian |aw. Therefore, petitioner argues,
respondent’'s use of the records in making the determinations is
prohi bi t ed.

Petitioner's records were obtained fromBCCl pursuant to a
request by an agent of the U S. Custonms Service. Petitioner
asserts that the request failed to neet the requirenents for
production of the records under Panamani an law. In broad
strokes, petitioner argues that the records can be produced only
when evidence of drug trafficking, and |inkage between the
trafficking and specific funds in Panamani an banks, is shown.

Petitioner also states that this evidence nust include the
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statenent of at least two investigators, sworn to in person in
Panama. Petitioner asserts that the request did not satisfy
t hese requirenents.

Petitioner asserts that pursuant to Panamani an | aw, he has
standing to challenge the manner in which the records were
obtained. W disagree. The article of |aw under which
petitioner clainms to have standing refers to "all nationals and
foreigners living under Panamani an jurisdiction", which does not
i nclude petitioner. Accordingly, petitioner |acks standing to
chal | enge any purported violation of Panamanian law. Cf. United

States v. ©Mann, supra at 852-853; Harvey v. United States, 730 F

Supp. at 1106. W hold respondent's use of petitioner's BCCl
records was not inproper.

Petitioner also argues that the Governnment violated his
rights under the Fourth Anmendnent to the U. S. Constitution when
it sought and obtained his BCCl records. Petitioner does not
have a protected Fourth Anendnent interest in his BCCl records.

See United States v. Payner, 447 U.S. 727 (1980); United States

v. Mller, 425 U S. 435 (1976); see also United States v. Mnn,

supra. Thus, petitioner's claimof a Fourth Amendnent violation

fails.
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| ssue 5. Petitioner's Unreported | ncone

Respondent determ ned that petitioner had unreported incone
fromthe sale of aircraft and narcotics trafficking, and
unreported interest on that incone.*

Respondent used the bank deposits nmethod for the years 1978
t hrough 1983 and then added certain additional cash or
unexpl ai ned expenditures. For the years 1985 through 1989,
respondent determ ned that petitioner had unreported interest
fromBCCl in Panama and unreported gain in 1985 fromthe sal e of
a Lear jet. For 1992, respondent determ ned that petitioner had
unreported i ncone from Nati onsBank.

Every taxpayer is required to maintain adequate records of
taxabl e i ncone. See sec. 6001. Petitioner did not maintain
adequate records fromwhich the anount of his incone or Federa
income tax liability could be conputed. |In the absence of such
records, a taxpayer's inconme may be reconstructed by any net hod
that, in the Comm ssioner's opinion, clearly reflects incone.

See sec. 446(b); Parks v. Comm ssioner, 94 T.C 654, 658 (1990).

The Conm ssioner's nethod need not be exact but nust be

reasonable. See Holland v. United States, 348 U S. 121 (1954).

The bank deposits nmethod for conputing unreported i ncome has

| ong been sanctioned by the courts. See DilLeo v. Conmm ssioner,

‘Respondent addresses only petitioner's unreported interest
i ncone on brief.
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96 T.C. 858, 867 (1991), affd. 959 F.2d 16 (2d Cir. 1992).
Though not concl usive, bank deposits are prina facie evidence of

i ncone. See Estate of Mason v. Conmi ssioner, 64 T.C. 651, 656-

657 (1975), affd. 566 F.2d 2 (6th Cr. 1977); see also Price v.

United States, 335 F.2d 671, 677 (5th Gr. 1964) (the bank

deposits nethod assunes that all noney deposited in a taxpayer's
bank account during a given period constitutes gross incone);

Tokarski v. Conm ssioner, 87 T.C. 74, 77 (1986); Jones v.

Comm ssioner, 29 T.C. 601 (1957). Were the taxpayer has failed

to mai ntain adequate records as to the anount and source of his
or her inconme, and the Conm ssioner has determ ned that the
deposits are incone, the taxpayer has the burden of show ng that
the determnation is incorrect. See Rule 142(a); dayton v.

Comm ssioner, 102 T.C 632, 645 (1994); Parks v. Conm Ssioner,

supra; Estate of Mason v. Comm SSioner, supra. Furt hernore, the

Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Grcuit, to which these cases
are appeal abl e, has accepted the bank deposits nethod of incone

reconstruction. See United States v. Carter, 721 F.2d 1514, 1538

(11th Gr. 1984) (citing United States v. Boulet, 577 F.2d 1165

(5th Gr. 1978)).
Petitioner was engaged in illegal narcotics activities. In
addition, the parties stipulated that in 1993 petitioner

testified during his crimnal trial in Florida as foll ows:
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"Q D d you report any of the noney you earned in '78
and ' 79
Wi ch noney are you di scussi ng
Il egal noney for snuggling dope
Absol utely not.

A
Q
A
Q So you evaded you [sic] taxes in '78 and ' 79
A Yes, | did.

Q

I You al so earned interest incone in '78 and '79 from
t he Bank of Nova Scotia

Al Yes.

Q You didn't report that interest incone either

A: No."
Petitioner does not chall enge respondent’'s inconme reconstruction.
Accordi ngly, respondent's determ nations are sustai ned.

In addition, petitioner stipulated that he did not report

interest income in the years at issue as foll ows:

Year Anpunt

1978 $90, 891
1979 294, 835
1980 403, 607
1981 588, 847
1982 401, 337
1983 160, 502
1985 271, 383
1986 265, 288
1987 214,074
1988 277, 315
1989 354, 072

Petitioner asserts that during 1990 through 1992, the tine

his funds were held by the District Court for the Southern
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District of Florida, he had no access to the funds or any of the

interest earned during that tine.

In Poczatek v. Conm ssioner, 71 T.C 371, 376-377 (1978),
the Court held that

It is well settled that incone is taxable when it
has been actually or constructively received. North
Anerican G| Consolidated Co. v. Burnet, 286 U S. 417
(1932). * * * [I]t is equally well settled that incone
is not limted to direct recei pt of cash (Crane v.

Comm ssioner, 331 U.S. 1 (1947)), and paynent of a

| egal obligation of a taxpayer is incone to himeven

t hough such income is not actually received by him

A d Colony Trust Co. v. Conm ssioner, 279 U.S. 716
(1929); Anps v. Conmi ssioner, 47 T.C. 65 (1966); Tucker
v. Conm ssioner, 69 T.C. 675 (1978).

Accordingly, the $529,298.71 of interest earned on petitioner's
funds deposited with the District Court is taxable to petitioner
in 1992 when it was received by the IRS and applied to his unpaid
tax assessnents.

| ssue 6. Petitioner's Losses

Petitioner next contends that he suffered vari ous business
| osses during the tax years in issue which he never clained.
These include funds which petitioner clains were stolen fromhis
Panamani an bank accounts and | osses on various aircraft and
busi ness investnents. Thus, petitioner clainms there were
resulting net operating | osses which reduce his tax liabilities.

Petitioner has the burden of proving both the right to and
t he anobunt of the net operating | oss deductions pursuant to

section 172. See Rule 142(a); Wl ch v. Helvering, 290 U S 111
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115 (1933). The taxpayer's burden of establishing his
entitlement to a net operating | oss deduction includes the burden

of substantiation. See Hradesky v. Conmi ssioner, 65 T.C. 87, 90

(1975), affd. per curiam540 F.2d 821 (5th Cr. 1976). The Court
is not bound to accept unverified, undocunented testinony of the
taxpayer. See id.

At trial, the principal evidence presented in support of his
claimwas petitioner's own discursive testinony. Petitioner also
submtted witten narratives to chronicle his | osses, along with
phot ocopi es of certain records.

We do not find petitioner to be a credible witness, and we
give his testinony no weight. The photocopied records are not
sufficient evidence fromwhich the Court can determ ne the anount
of and the right to deductions or |osses for prior years.
Petitioner has therefore failed to neet his burden of proof.
Petitioner is not entitled to the asserted net operating | osses
for the years in issue.

| ssue 7. Fr aud

Respondent determ ned that petitioner is liable for the
addition to tax for fraud under section 6653(b) for the years
1978 t hrough 1983 and 1985 through 1988.° Respondent determ ned

that petitioner is liable for the fraud penalty pursuant to

SPetitioner concedes that the addition to tax for fraud
applies for 1981.
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section 6663 for 1989. Petitioner asserts that he had a good
faith belief that his 1980 pl ea agreenent gave himinmunity from
civil taxes and thus precludes a finding of fraud.

Section 6653(b) as applicable to 1978 through 1981 i nposes
an addition to tax of 50 percent of the underpaynent if any
portion of the underpaynent is due to fraud. For 1982, 1983, and
1985, section 6653(b)(1) inposes an addition to tax of 50 percent
of the underpaynent if any portion of the underpaynent is due to
fraud, and section 6653(b)(2) inposes an additional anpbunt equal
to 50 percent of the interest with respect to the portion of the
under paynent attributable to fraud. For 1986 and 1987, section
6653(b) (1) (A) inposes an addition to tax of 75 percent of the
portion of the underpaynent attributable to fraud, and section
6653(b) (1) (B) inposes an additional anobunt equal to 50 percent of
the interest with respect to such portion. For 1988, section
6653(b) inposes an addition to tax of 75 percent of the
under paynent attributable to fraud. For 1989, the fraud penalty
i nposed under section 6663 is equal to 75 percent of the portion
of the underpaynent attributable to fraud.® For the years 1986
t hrough 1989, if respondent proves that any portion of the
underpaynent is attributable to fraud, the entire underpaynent

shall be treated as attributable to fraud, unless petitioner can

6See supra note 2.
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establish by a preponderance of the evidence that a portion is
not attributable to fraud. See secs. 6653(b)(2), 6663(b).

The Comm ssi oner has the burden of proving fraud by clear
and convinci ng evidence. See sec. 7454; Rule 142(b); Parks v.

Comm ssioner, 94 T.C. at 660. First, the Conm ssioner nust prove

that there is an underpaynment. See Parks v. Conm Ssioner, supra.

Second, the Conm ssioner nust show that the taxpayer intended to
evade taxes by conduct intended to conceal, m slead, or otherw se

prevent tax collection. See Stoltzfus v. United States, 398 F.2d

1002, 1004 (3d Cr. 1968); Parks v. Conm ssioner, supra at 661,

Row ee v. Conm ssioner, 80 T.C 1111, 1123 (1983).

Petitioner has stipulated that he failed to report
significant anmounts of interest incone. |In addition, he has
failed to establish that these anbunts are offset by unreported
deductions. Therefore, we conclude that respondent has presented
sufficient evidence that petitioner underpaid his taxes for the
years in issue.

Next, respondent nust prove by clear and convi ncing evidence
that petitioner had fraudulent intent. See Parks v.

Commmi ssi oner, supra at 664. Fraud is defined as an intenti onal

wr ongdoi ng designed to evade tax believed to be owng. See

Edel son v. Conm ssioner, 829 F.2d 828, 833 (9th Cir. 1987), affgqg.

T.C. Meno. 1986-223. The existence of fraud is a question of

fact to be resol ved upon consideration of the entire record. See
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DiLeo v. Conmmi ssioner, 96 T.C. at 874. Fraud is never presuned

and nust be established by i ndependent evidence of fraudul ent

intent. See Edelson v. Conmni SSsioner, supra.

The Comm ssioner nmay prove fraud by circunstantial evidence
because direct evidence of the taxpayer's intent is rarely

avail able. See Stephenson v. Conmm ssioner, 79 T.C 995, 1005-

1006 (1982), affd. per curiam 748 F.2d 331 (6th Cr. 1984). The
courts have devel oped a nunber of objective indicators or
"badges" of fraud, such as: (1) A pattern of substanti al
understatenents of inconme, (2) inadequate books and records, (3)

i npl ausi bl e or inconsistent explanations of behavior, (4)
engaging in illegal activities, (5) failure to cooperate with tax
authorities, (6) concealing assets, and (7) dealing in excessive

amounts of cash. See Bradford v. Conm ssioner, 796 F.2d 303,

307-308 (9th Gir. 1986), affg. T.C. Menp. 1984-601; Estate of

Mazzoni v. Conm ssioner, 451 F.2d 197, 202 (3d Gr. 1971), affg.

T.C. Meno. 1970-37. W consider all the facts and circunstances
of each case to decide whether fraudulent intent is present. See

King's Court Mbile Hone Park, Inc. v. Comm ssioner, 98 T.C. 511

516 (1992); Recklitis v. Conm ssioner, 91 T.C. 874, 910 (1988).

Upon exam nation of the entire record, we conclude that
petitioner's underpaynents of Federal incone taxes for the years

1978 through 1983 and 1985 through 1989 are attributable to
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fraud. Furthernore, petitioner has not established that any
portions of the underpaynents are not attributable to fraud.

A pattern of consistent underreporting of incone for several
years, especially when acconpani ed by ot her circunstances show ng
intent to conceal, such as illegal narcotics trafficking, is

strong evidence of fraud. See Holland v. United States, 348 U. S

121 (1954); Patton v. Conm ssioner, 799 F.2d 166, 171 (5th G

1986), affg. T.C. Meno. 1985-148; Estate of Mazzoni v.

Conmi ssi oner, supra; Anderson v. Comm ssioner, 250 F.2d 242, 250

(5th CGr. 1957), affg. on this issue and remanding T.C Meno.
1956-178. Petitioner consistently underreported his incone.
Petitioner failed to keep adequate records, a badge of

fraud. See Bradford v. Comm ssioner, supra; Lollis v.

Comm ssi oner, 595 F.2d 1189, 1192 (9th Gr. 1979), affg. T.C

Meno. 1976-15.

Petitioner's testinony was not credible. Petitioner's claim
that he had a good faith belief that his 1980 pl ea agreenent gave
hi m prospective civil tax immunity i s unpersuasive. Petitioner
was convicted of crimnal tax evasion for 1981, a year that
postdated his plea agreement. It may be inferred that the jury
found that his violation of the reporting requirenents of the

Code for that year was willful. Cf. United States v. Harvey, 869

F.2d at 1449 n. 15.
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Petitioner's engaging in illegal drug activities is evidence

that he intended to evade tax. See Bradford v. Conm ssioner,

supra at 308; Patton v. Comm Ssioner, supra.

Petitioner did not cooperate with respondent's exam ni ng
agents. Instead, petitioner refused to provide any of his
banki ng and corporate records and attenpted to transfer his funds
fromthe Cayman |Islands to other secret accounts in Panama. A
taxpayer's failure to cooperate with the Conmm ssioner's exam ni ng

agents is a badge of fraud. See Bradford v. Comm ssioner, supra.

Conceal ing assets is evidence of fraud. See id.
Petitioner's honme, autonobile, and various other assets were held
by corporations in order to conceal ownership.

Extensive dealing in |arge anmounts of cash, as petitioner

did, also constitutes evidence of fraud. See Estate of Mazzon

v. Conm ssioner, supra.

We conclude that the record contains clear and convincing
evi dence of petitioner's intent to conceal, m slead, or otherw se
prevent the collection of taxes on the unreported incone for the
years in issue. W hold that the understatenents of tax
attributable to the unreported i ncone were due to fraud.

Accordi ngly, we sustain respondent’'s determ nation that
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petitioner is liable for additions to tax, and a penalty for,
fraud.’

| ssue 8. Addition to Tax Under Section 6654

Respondent determ ned an addition to tax under section 6654
for underpaynment of individual estimated tax for the years 1978
t hrough 1983 and 1987 through 1989.

Respondent stipul ated that petitioner filed Federal incone
tax returns for the years 1978 through 1983. Petitioner did not
file Federal incone tax returns for the years 1987 through 1989.

The Comm ssioner's determ nations are presunptively correct,
and the taxpayer bears the burden of proving otherwi se. See Rule

142(a); Welch v. Helvering, 290 U.S. at 115. Petitioner did not

address this issue and has therefore failed to neet his burden.
Accordingly, we sustain the addition to tax under section 6654
for the years 1987 through 1989. W do not sustain, however, the
additions to tax pursuant to section 6654 for the years 1978
through 1983. It was stipulated that petitioner filed Federal
incone tax returns for those years. Therefore, we |ack
jurisdiction over the additions to tax pursuant to section 6654
for the years 1978 through 1983. See sec. 6662(b)(2)

(redesi gnated sec. 6665).

‘On the basis of this holding, the period of limtations has
not expired for any year in which it would otherwi se be in issue.
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| ssue 9. Addition to Tax Under Section 6661

Respondent determ ned an addition to tax under section 6661
for the years 1982, 1983, 1985, and 1986.

For returns due after Decenber 31, 1982 (but before January
1, 1990), section 6661 provides for an addition to tax equal to
25 percent of the anmpbunt of any underpaynent attributable to a
substantial understatenent. An understatenment is "substantial"
if it exceeds the greater of (1) 10 percent of the tax required
to be shown on the return or (2) $5,000. The understatenent is
reduced to the extent that the taxpayer (1) has adequately
di scl osed his or her position, or (2) has substantial authority
for the tax treatnent of an item See sec. 6661; sec. 1.6661-
6(a), Income Tax Regs. Petitioner again bears the burden of
showi ng that he is not subject to the addition to tax determ ned

by respondent. See Rule 142(a); Cochrane v. Conmm ssioner, 107

T.C. 18, 29 (1996).

Petitioner has presented no evidence to show that respondent
erroneously determned the addition to tax under section 6661
Accordingly, we hold that petitioner is liable for the addition
to tax under section 6661 for 1982, 1983, 1985, and 1986.

| ssue 10. Addition to Tax Under Section 6651(a)(1)

Respondent determ ned an addition to tax under section

6651(a)(1) for failure to file a tinely return for 1992.
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Section 6651(a)(1l) provides for an addition to tax for
failure to file a tinely return. The addition to tax is equal to
5 percent of the anount required to be shown as tax on the
return, wwth an additional 5 percent for each additional nonth or
fraction thereof during which the failure continues, not
exceedi ng 25 percent in the aggregate.

A taxpayer may avoid the addition to tax by establishing
that the failure to file a tinely return was due to reasonabl e

cause and not willful neglect. See Rule 142(a); United States v.

Boyle, 469 U. S. 241, 245-246 (1985). Petitioner did not address
this issue. Accordingly, we sustain respondent's determ nation
of an addition to tax under section 6651(a)(1) for 1992.

To reflect the foregoing,

Appropriate orders wll

be issued, and decisions wll

be entered under Rul e 155.




